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31, 2015. It includes the statements of accounts required to be kept under the Act.

Respectfully submitted,

Michael D. Werier 
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ABOUT THE WCB
The Workers Compensation Board of Manitoba (WCB) is a 
mutual workplace injury and disability insurance agency funded 
by employer premiums. With a mandate to prevent workplace 
injuries and illnesses, the WCB and its approximately 600 
staff are committed to building a culture of health and safety 
throughout Manitoba.

Services and Benefits

If people are hurt or become ill as a result of their work, the WCB is here to 
help, offering a wide range of benefits to assist injured workers in returning to health 
and meaningful work as soon as safely possible. Some of the benefits offered include:

• replacement of lost income
• healthcare treatments and payment of medication costs
• employment retraining
• lump sum payments for permanent impairments
• benefits to partners and children in the event of a workplace fatality.

As part of the WCB’s commitment to quality service and fair process, injured workers, their 
dependants and employers may contact the Fair Practices Advocate (FPA), an independent 
office that works to ensure fair practices at the WCB. Further information is available at 
www.fairpracticesofficemb.ca.

DAYS LOST 
TO 

WORKPLACE 
INJURY 

OR ILLNESS*

1.68
per full time 

worker

AVERAGE ASSESSMENT RATE
per $100 of Assessable Payroll

2011
$1.50

2012
$1.50

2013
$1.50

2014
$1.50 2015

$1.30

*For a five year historical trend, see page 24.
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Our Vision
A trusted partner, insuring today and building a safer tomorrow.

Our Mission
We are here to insure and support safe and healthy work and workplaces.

We put workers and employers at the centre of all we do.

We provide them with valued services for injury prevention, compensation 
and return to health and work while maintaining system integrity.

Our Strategic Priorities
Our Customers – Understanding the diverse needs and expectations of 
workers and employers. Providing proactive and relevant services.

Our System – Protecting the integrity of the compensation system. 
Honouring our governing principles and delivering on our mandate.

Our Partners – Collaborating with our partners to deliver superior services 
and build a safer Manitoba.

Our People – Engaging our employees to harness their commitment and 
passion. Developing our capabilities and our capacity to excel.

Our Values
Integrity · Compassion · Innovation · Accountability · Collaboration

our
customers
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MESSAGE FROM 
THE CHAIRPERSON
The Board of Directors establishes the WCB’s 
strategic direction, approves the policies that 
guide the organization and monitors the progress 
the organization makes towards reaching its 
strategic goals. The work of the Board benefits 
from the experience and diverse representation of 
employers, workers and the public interest.

The Board’s commitment to strong governance 
continues to benefit from the perspective that 
new members bring. In 2015, Chris Lorenc joined 
the Board as a new Employer Representative 
and Jan Schubert joined as a new Public Interest 
Representative.

In 2015, the Board was also active on the policy 
front. On behalf of the Government of Manitoba, 
the Board consulted with stakeholders about 
workers compensation coverage for Post-Traumatic 
Stress Disorder (PTSD). Following the passage of 
PTSD presumptive legislation, the Board revised 
its psychological injuries policy to align with the 
new legislation.

Following the 2014 comprehensive review of 
the assessment rate model, the Board approved 
six core changes to the model and a five-year 
transition plan for implementation. The changes 
respond to stakeholder concerns heard during the 
consultation phase of the review and enhance 
fairness and balance in the rate-setting system.

The Board also approved a number of other policy 
revisions. To enhance clarity and transparency, the 
Board revised its policy on reconsiderations using 
modernized language that reflects the current 
legal and policy landscape. The Board continued 
its oversight of the WCB’s investments by making 
changes to the fixed income and real estate 
portfolios.

The Board also continued to review and monitor 
 the WCB’s progress on implementing the 

recommendations of 2013’s Fair Compensation 
Review. Many of these recommendations were 
closely tied to the WCB’s new compliance 
framework. This included refining the penalty 
structure to recognize compliance over time.

Working with the Executive Management 
Committee, the Board also confirmed the Future 
State of the WCB as a reflection of its vision 
statement: A trusted partner, insuring today and 
building a safer tomorrow.

In 2015, the Board’s Prevention Committee 
completed its first full year. Established in 
response to the provincial government’s 2014 
legislation (The Workers Compensation Amendment 
Act), the Committee assists the Board of Directors 
in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities for the 
prevention of workplace injuries 
and illnesses through SAFE 
Work Manitoba.

I would like to acknowledge 
and thank our dedicated 
Board members for their active 
participation in guiding the 
organization.

On behalf of my 
colleagues, I also extend 
my thanks to all of the 
staff for their hard work 
in 2015 in support of the 
Board’s vision of being a 
trusted partner, insuring 
today and building a safer 
tomorrow.

Michael D. Werier 
Chairperson
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MESSAGE FROM THE 
PRESIDENT AND CEO
2015 was a year of progress for the WCB on 
many fronts, as numerous activities took place to 
enable us to be responsive to our customers and 
partners. We ended the fiscal year in a position 
of strength that is sustainable for the future, 
allowing us to continue to deliver on our many 
organizational objectives.

In 2015, the WCB began a transition to a more 
fair and balanced assessment rate model. We 
made some rate model changes immediately 
while others will be phased in by 2020. The 
new rate model will respond to the unique 
needs of different sized employers, reduce rate 
volatility, provide increased protection through 
collective liability, and balance the rate impact of 
preventing injuries with the impact of controlling 
claims after an injury has occurred. While 
increased protection will cost slightly more for 
some small and medium employers, our strong 
financial position allowed us to absorb some of 
the impact by reducing the 2016 overall average 
assessment rate from $1.30 to $1.25.

The WCB is also continuing to explore ways to 
improve our customers’ experience. In 2015, this 
included completing a customer journey map 
for injured workers and beginning the same 
exercise for employers. Customer journey maps 
are helping us to better understand and respond 
to customer needs. From creating best practices 
for managing claims to enhancing our phone 
service so that customers can speak to a live 
person at any time during business hours, our 
Compensation Services team is well on its way to 
improving service delivery.

Our compliance efforts also gained traction in 
2015 with new resources to help employers 
and workers understand their rights and 
responsibilities with respect to the workers 
compensation system. The launch of our 
employer Self-Evaluator tool allows workplaces 
to check their compliance in a number of key 
areas and seek help from our Compliance 
Services team. Our compliance education also 
extended to new businesses that now receive 
enhanced material aimed at setting them on a 
path of success in fulfilling their responsibilities.

PERCENTAGE OF 
WORKFORCE COVERED 

76
%
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In 2015, we developed the key characteristics 
which describe our Future State and a concrete 
description that illustrates what it means for us 
to achieve that vision. In that future, Manitoba’s 
days lost to workplace injury and illness will 
be at an all-time low. Achieving this state will 
require focused efforts on preventing injuries from 
occurring in the first place, reducing the severity 
of injuries and improving recovery and return to 
work following injuries.

Our injury prevention efforts through SAFE Work 
Manitoba made further inroads in 2015. From 
new safety programs to enhanced training, we 
are continuing to see positive results towards the 
desired Future State.

Successful return to work following an injury 
requires a partnership among the worker, 
employer, healthcare provider and the WCB. 
Recognizing we could do more to help in the 
process, we established a new team to help 
employers create or enhance their return to 
work programs in 2015. For injured workers, an 
excellent return to work program can lessen the 
personal and financial impact of an injury or 
illness and aid in recovery.

The WCB is a vibrant and energetic organization 
committed to being a trusted partner that benefits 
all Manitobans. Our achievements this year and 
the momentum we have in place are the result of 
hard work from WCB staff who are committed to 
the work they do. We are already witnessing an 
encouraging trend in a reduction in Manitoba’s 

days lost to 
workplace 
injuries and 
illnesses, illustrating 
that the dedication of our 
front line staff, in combination with the efforts of 
our partners, is paying off.

I am proud of all of our accomplishments to date 
and continue to look forward to positive results 
as we implement our many multi-year projects 
that will result in a strong and secure workers 
compensation system for future generations.

Winston Maharaj 
President and CEO
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OUR BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS AND 
BOARD COMMITTEES
By statute, the Board of Directors consists of 
10 members appointed by the Government of 
Manitoba after consultation with employers, 
labour and the public. The tripartite representation 
includes a neutral Board Chairperson, three 
representatives of employers, three representatives 
of workers and three representatives of the public 
interest. The President and CEO is a non-voting 
member of the Board.

As stewards of the compensation system, the 
Board of Directors plans for its future. The Board 
of Directors sets the WCB’s strategic direction; 
makes policies about compensation, rehabilitation, 
assessment, prevention and investment of the 
funds within the investment portfolio; and 
monitors progress in these areas.

Audit Committee 
External Member – Donald Sobkow

Finance Committee

Investment Committee 
External Members – Bob Darling, Brad Peacock 
and Cathy Rolland

Policy, Planning, Governance and Service 
Committee

Prevention Committee 
External Members – Rick Farley; Chris Lorenc 
(to June 2015); Don Hurst, Chief Prevention 
Officer (to March 2015); Dennis Nikkel, 
Chief Prevention Officer (from August 2015); 
Dave Dyson, Acting Deputy Minister, Labour 
and Immigration

The Chairperson of the Board of Directors is a 
member of all committees. The President and CEO 
is an ex-officio member of all committees.

For a description on the responsibilities of each 
committee, see the Terms of Reference available at  
www.wcb.mb.ca/board-and-executive

Representatives of employers:

Paul Challoner Chris Lorenc  
(from July 2015)

Jane MacKay

Representatives of workers:

Rob Labossiere Wendy Sol Ron Stecy

Representatives of the public interest:

Jan Schubert  
(from February 2015)

Colleen Seymour Ken Sutherland

Michael D. Werier, 
Chairperson

Winston Maharaj, 
President and CEO
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OUR LEADERS – EXECUTIVE 
MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

Our Executive Management Committee oversees the strategic direction of the WCB and leads a 
diverse group of employees who fulfill the WCB’s vision: A trusted partner, insuring today and building 
a safer tomorrow.

(standing left to right): Warren Preece, Director, Communications; Lori Ferguson Sain, General 
Counsel and Vice President, Compliance and Corporate Services; Winston Maharaj, President 
and CEO; Alice Sayant, Vice President, Strategy and Assessment Services; David Scott, Vice 
President, People, Technology and Innovation Services

(seated left to right): Lorena Trann, Chief Financial Officer, Finance and Administrative Services; 
Jamie Hall, Chief Operating Officer, SAFE Work Manitoba; Stu Charles, Chief Information 
Officer; Darren Oryniak, Vice President, Compensation Services
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OUR CUSTOMERS
Providing compassionate and responsive service 
to injured workers has always been top of mind 
at the WCB. In 2015, to ensure consistency in 
how we serve injured workers, we developed 
best practices by pooling our knowledge and 
fine-tuning our approach to the most complex 
cases. We also established a Claims Service 
Centre staffed by representatives who are able 
to help the majority of injured workers with 
their questions and approve some medical 
expenses. This “real time” service is already 
reaping benefits by speeding up approvals and 
communication with our customers.

In 2015, the WCB completed a customer journey 
map for injured workers that identifies, from 
the worker’s perspective, where our service 
meets expectations and where we could still 
improve. This exercise resulted in a number 
of recommendations, including technology 
upgrades, enhancements to the Voice of 
the Customer program and improvements 
to enable customers to use their preferred 
channel to interact with the WCB. We also 
developed realistic customer profiles that will 
be incorporated into training to help our staff 
understand and anticipate individual needs. At 
the end of the year, the WCB embarked on a 
customer journey map for employers.

The WCB introduced a Compliance Self-Evaluator 
tool in 2015 that employers can use to ensure 
they are meeting their legal responsibilities. 
Following a self-evaluation, they are encouraged 
to seek assistance from Compliance Services. 
Both the WCB and employers prefer this 
collaborative approach, with many employers 
reaching out for assistance to ensure they have 

the necessary resources to meet their obligations. 
The WCB also introduced an information package 
for newly-registered employers.

The WCB completed the rollout of FlexPay, its 
enhanced payroll reporting and assessment 
payment system, in 2015. All employers may 
now select a payment option that suits their 
needs. Nearly 40 per cent of employers enjoyed 
the convenience of online payroll reporting and 
approximately 30 per cent of employers opted 
into the new electronic payment options.

The WCB is also working with employers to 
establish or strengthen their return to work 
programs so that injured workers are able to 
return quickly and safely to meaningful work. 
Our enhanced business intelligence is helping us 
to identify workplaces that might benefit from 
our return to work consulting services.
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CUSTOMER SATISFACTION*

TARGET
INJURED 
WORKEREMPLOYER 71% 77% 80%

WORKER SATISFACTION WITH WCB SUPPORT FOR RETURN TO WORK*

TARGET 80%

RESULT 63%

CLAIMS 
PAID WITHIN 
14 DAYS OF 

INJURY*

TARGET 70% RESULT 66%

*For a five year historical trend, see page 24.
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70%
injured worker benefits

 51% claim costs
 19% future claim costs
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3%
Prov of MB Workplace Safety and Health 
Department and Appeal Commission funding

25%
administration

2%
SAFE Work Manitoba

RESERVES AND FUNDING*

FUNDING RATIO
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%

REVIEW OFFICE RECONSIDERATIONS*

73% ADJUDICATIVE DECISIONS CONFIRMED

*For a five year historical trend, see pages 24-25.
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OUR SYSTEM
At the WCB, we are committed to protecting the 
integrity of the workers compensation system. 
Our strong financial position ensures that 
workers and employers can continue to benefit 
from our prevention, compensation and return to 
work services in the future. In 2015 we achieved 
an operating surplus of $95 million after lowering 
the average assessment rate to $1.30 ($1.50 in 
2014), which is the third lowest rate among 
Canadian WCBs. Our funded position is now 
143.3 per cent (136.0 per cent in 2014).

Following consultation with stakeholders, in 
2015 the WCB announced that we are moving 
towards a more fair and balanced assessment 
rate model. The new system will decrease rate 
volatility and provide more collective liability 
protection. While increased protection will cost 
some small and medium employers a slightly 
higher assessment rate, the changes mean that a 
high cost claim will not result in five consecutive 
years of large rate increases as was the case 
under the old rate model. Some rate model 

changes are effective in 2016, while others 
will be phased in by 2020. The changes were 
communicated broadly to stakeholders in 
meetings and presentations, as well as by mail 
and on the WCB website.

Having employers and workers understand their 
rights and responsibilities ensures that a strong 
and responsive compensation system is here 
for those who need it. Our Compliance Services 
team has made great inroads in the past year. 
The compliance program has as its foundation 
a strong education component with the goal of 
ensuring employers and workers understand and 
comply with their rights and obligations under 
the law. A number of new resources were made 
available to employers to ensure they are meeting 
their legal obligations.

In 2015, the WCB gathered stakeholder input 
on workers compensation coverage for Post-
Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD) on behalf of 
the Government of Manitoba. Following the 
consultation, new legislation was put in place 
so that PTSD will be considered a presumptive 
workplace injury to any worker who is exposed 
on the job to the specific type of traumatic events 
that trigger PTSD, and is subsequently diagnosed 
with PTSD. The psychological injuries policy was 
aligned with the new legislation and plans were 
put in place to implement the new presumption 
that became effective on January 1, 2016.

In 2015, the WCB completed a multi-year 
initiative to modernize its quality assurance 
program. The program is based on a rigorous 
methodology that measures adherence to 
standards across various dimensions and periods 
in the life of a claim. The program will give the 
WCB a rich source of data to drive continuous 
improvement in claims management.
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OUR PARTNERS
Collaborating with our partners to deliver 
superior compensation and return to work 
services and build a safer Manitoba is a priority 
for us. We continue to work with and support a 
number of organizations that share our vision. 
By sponsoring and participating in tradeshows 
and conferences led by partners such as the 
Construction Safety Association of Manitoba, the 
Manitoba Heavy Construction Association and 
Safety Services Manitoba, we are active in the 
communities where our customers work.

We also are proud to support diversity in the 
workplace and demonstrate this value in a 
number of ways, from sponsoring the Manitoba 
Aboriginal Youth Achievement Awards, to 
supporting the Aboriginal Business Education 
Partners at the University of Manitoba to 
working with Connect Employment Services, 
an organization that provides job search and 
other assistance for persons with intellectual 
disabilities.

Manitoba’s healthcare providers are an important 
link in providing services to injured workers. 
The WCB has been developing an electronic 
healthcare reporting and billing system to allow 
healthcare providers to submit the reports 
required for claims management. In 2015, 
the WCB consulted with physiotherapists to 
collaborate in designing a system to submit 
reports online, record and track patient visits, 
request consultations and input bills. A launch 
of the newly designed application is anticipated 
in early 2017. The system will result in improved 
timeliness and quality of reports, which will in 
turn support safe and timely return to work for 
injured workers.

In 2015, the WCB continued to implement 
an external outreach plan to enhance 

communication with its stakeholders. This 
included meetings with employer organizations 
such as the Manitoba Employers Council, 
the Canadian Federation of Independent 
Business and the Manitoba Chambers of 
Commerce, various industry associations and 
labour organizations, including the Manitoba 
Federation of Labour. This initiative is enabling 
the WCB to track stakeholder interactions and 
have meaningful conversations on such topics as 
the new assessment rate model, the importance 
of returning workers to meaningful work and 
the value and benefits the compensation system 
delivers.

Supporting our partners in Manitoba and being 
a valued member of the community is important 
to us. That’s why we partner with and support 
organizations like the United Way of Winnipeg. 
In 2015, our employee United Way campaign was 
the most successful to date, as staff contributions 
exceeded $107,000. Another way we support our 
partners is through the Research and Workplace 
Innovation Program (RWIP), which 
provides up to $1 million 
annually to help keep 
Manitobans safe at 
work, or recover and 
return to meaningful 
work as soon as it’s 
safe to do so if they are 
injured on the job.
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DONATIONS:
$215,384

STAFF 
CONTRIBUTIONS:

$107,218

PROJECTS 
FUNDED: 7 AT 

$917,746

RESEARCH 
AND 

WORKPLACE 
INNOVATION 
PROGRAM

*For a five year historical trend, see page 25.
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INNOVATION INDEX*

TARGET 80%

RESULT 60%

EMPLOYEE ENGAGEMENT*

TARGET 80%

RESULT 65%

*For a five year historical trend, see page 25.

SERVICE CULTURE 
INDEX*

TARGET 80%

RESULT 68%
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OUR PEOPLE
Our Executive Management Committee (EMC) 
continues to explore new ways to engage 
with staff. In response to the 2015 Employee 
Engagement Survey, an action plan was 
developed in three areas: organizational vision; 
respect and ethics; and innovation. EMC hosted 
two town hall events known as “Exec Connect” 
in order to better connect with staff and share 
WCB’s Future State, a concrete description of our 
desired future.

There are many opportunities for staff to connect 
with their colleagues throughout the year. From 
fitness classes, lunch ‘n’ learns, workshops, 
customer experience celebrations, corporate 
wellness challenges, the United Way campaign 
and plane pull to creating holiday hampers, 
there are many activities that contribute to our 
staff’s engagement and well-being while also 
supporting the communities where we live and 
work.

In 2015, the innovation team at the WCB 
continued to focus on our strategic goal to build 
a culture that supports innovation. More than 
20 innovation ideas were implemented ranging 
from intranet and website enhancements, 
automating back office processes and enabling 
videoconferencing to making changes to the 
performance evaluation process and developing 
a job shadow program. The innovation team 
continues to seek staff input about their ideas to 
better serve customers, improve efficiency and 
make the WCB a better place to work.

In 2015, the WCB made a commitment to 
develop a Mentally Healthy and Safe Workplace 
strategy aimed at promoting optimal mental 
health for all employees. A number of mental 
health wellness events took place in the fall, 
including an assessment of workplace strengths 
and needs, a resiliency workshop, a lunch ‘n’ 
learn session featuring the Canadian Mental 
Health Association and mental health leadership 
training. Helping our people stay healthy creates 
a win-win situation for our employees and our 
organization.

The WCB’s commitment to the physical and 
emotional well-being of our staff was an 
important factor in our being recognized for the 
fifth year in a row as one of Manitoba’s Top 25 
Employers. This special designation recognizes 
the Manitoba employers that lead their industries 
in offering exceptional places to work.

In compliance with The Public Interest Disclosure 
(Whistleblower Protection) Act, the WCB has 
whistleblower disclosure procedures in place. 
There were no disclosures reported in 2015.
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SAFETY AND HEALTH INFORMATION 
PACKAGES SENT TO NEW EMPLOYERS

SAFE WORK MANITOBA 
NOTE FROM THE CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER
2015 was a year of incredible growth at SAFE Work 
Manitoba. We began the year with some lofty goals 
and I’m proud to report we’ve made great progress.

The expansion of industry-based safety programs 
was one of our most important objectives. With their 
unique ability to provide training, tools and services 
for their industry members, these associations have a 
critical role to play in preventing workplace injury and 
illness. In May, we helped launch the Motor Vehicle 
Safety Association of Manitoba and in September, 
we joined the Manitoba Trucking Association in 
celebrating its new safety program. As the year drew 
to a close, we entered into an agreement with the 
Canadian Manufacturers and Exporters to host an 
expanded association that will be known as Made 
Safe. We’re just getting started – our goal is for all 
Manitoba workers to have access to a safety program 
designed for their needs.

We’ve also been working hard on a comprehensive, 
new province-wide safety certification program called 
SAFE Work Certified. This program will meet the 
needs of workplaces across all industries and sizes. 

Building on the strengths of existing certification 
programs, the program will foster a culture of safety 
and health, and ultimately offer financial rewards to 
workplaces that demonstrate their commitment to 
safety.

One of my personal highlights was moving into 
our new offices on the 16th floor of 363 Broadway 
in September. Our new space is not only modern 
and ergonomic, but it also features spacious 
training rooms that allow us to offer our prevention 
workshops at our SAFE Work Manitoba location, 
completing the transition from Workplace Safety and 
Health and the WCB.

We ended the year with the launch of our strategy to 
reduce injuries among workers aged 15 to 24. This age 
group has the highest incidence of workplace injury. 
Our plan will influence not only youth themselves, 
but also parents, educators and employers in 
encouraging safety and health in the workplace.

We know there is much more work ahead as we 
continue our plan to reduce injury and illness in 
the workplace. Our vision is straightforward – safe 
and healthy work and workplaces. Our many safety 
partners around the province have been essential to 
our success. We remain committed to this spirit of 
teamwork and collaboration as we carry on building a 
safer Manitoba.

Jamie W. Hall 
Chief Operating Officer 
SAFE Work Manitoba
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TARGET: REDUCE SERIOUS INJURIES AND FATALITIES

PERCENTAGE OF 
WCB-COVERED WORKERS THAT 

HAVE AN INDUSTRY-BASED SAFETY 
PROGRAM

TIME LOSS INJURY RATE 
PER 100 WORKERS

Target: 
Reduce Time 

Loss Injury Rate 
to 3.0

RESULT 3.0*

*Estimated, to be confirmed in mid-2016. For a five year historical trend, see page 25.
**2015 serious injuries will be available in mid-2016.
***May to December, 2015.

2011

22 FATALITIES 2,778 SERIOUS INJURIES 31,706 TOTAL INJURY CLAIMS

2012

36 FATALITIES 2,740 SERIOUS INJURIES 31,017 TOTAL INJURY CLAIMS

2013

24 FATALITIES 2,762 SERIOUS INJURIES 29,777 TOTAL INJURY CLAIMS

2014

15 FATALITIES 2,587 SERIOUS INJURIES** 30,202 TOTAL INJURY CLAIMS

2015

19 FATALITIES SERIOUS INJURIES N/A** 28,969 TOTAL INJURY CLAIMS

NUMBER OF LEARNERS IN SAFE 
WORK MANITOBA WORKSHOPS***

SAFE WORK ON WHEELS

51
PEOPLE VIEWED 

DEMONSTRATIONS

4,999

7,057
SITES VISITED

KILOMETRES TRAVELLED

3,241
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SAFE WORK MANITOBA FINANCIALS
Year ended December 31 
(in thousands of dollars)

2015 2014

Salaries, employee benefits and training $ 2,509 $ 1,668 
Office supplies, services and projects 112 128 
Communications 2,190 2,074 
Professional fees 35 68 

SAFE Work Manitoba Program Costs 4,846 3,938

SAFE Work Manitoba Initiatives
RWIP - Prevention Grants 563 939 
WCB Sponsorships 90 87 
Safety Associations 3,651 3,539 

Investment in Injury and Illness Prevention $ 9,150 $ 8,503 

The primary focus of SAFE Work Manitoba is to implement Manitoba’s Five-Year Plan for Workplace Injury and Illness 
Prevention. The investment in safety during the second year of delivering the plan grew to $9.1 million.
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WCB YEAR AT A GLANCE

2015 2014

Number of registered employers 34,204 34,121
Average assessment rate (per $100 of assessable payroll) $ 1.30 $ 1.50
Assessment revenue, Class E employers $ 230,059,000 $ 253,733,000
Investment income $ 111,520,000 $ 127,286,000
Investment rate of return (gross) 7.9% 9.9%
Total injury claims 28,969 30,202
Time loss injury claims 14,442 15,052
Fatality claims 19 15
Time loss injury rate (per 100 full time workers) 3.0* 3.1
Days lost to workplace injury (per full time equivalent) 1.68 1.78
Average days paid for all wage loss claims 31.4 31.8
Claim costs incurred $ 211,550,000 $ 222,100,000
Operating expenses $ 90,612,000 $ 81,323,000
Funded position $ 565,195,000 $ 457,130,000
Funded ratio 143.3% 136.0%

* estimated, to be confirmed in mid-2016
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HISTORICAL TRENDS
Days lost to workplace injury or illness (per full time worker)

2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

1.68 1.78 1.90 2.03 2.00

Customer satisfaction
Employer results

2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

71% 71% 71% 64% 71%

Injured worker results

2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

77% 77% 77% 79% 79%

Worker satisfaction with WCB support for return to work
2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

63% 64% 62% 65% 64%

Claims paid within 14 days of injury
2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

66.0% 68.0% 70.6% 65.8% 67.6%

Claim duration (days)
2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

31.4 31.8 33.9 34.9 35.9

Review Office reconsiderations – adjudicative decisions confirmed
2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

73% 71% 71% 71% 68%
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Reserves and funding – funding ratio
2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

143.3 136.0 134.0 126.6 121.3

Manitobans who believe the WCB makes a positive contribution to 
the province

2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

79% 72% 69% 69% 69%

Service culture index
2015 2013 2011 2009

68% 67% 71% 73%

Innovation index
2015 2013 2011 2009

60% 62% 62% N/A

Employee engagement
2015 2013 2011 2009

65% 67% 68% 75%

Time loss injury rate (injuries per 100 full time workers)
2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

3.0* 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.2

*estimated, to be confirmed in mid-2016
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Management’s Responsibility for Financial Information
The consolidated financial statements of the WCB were prepared by management, who are responsible for the 
integrity and fairness of the data presented, including significant accounting judgments and estimates. This 
responsibility includes selecting appropriate accounting principles consistent with International Financial Reporting 
Standards. Financial information contained elsewhere in this annual report conforms to these financial statements.

Management believes the system of internal controls, review procedures and established policies provide reasonable 
assurance that relevant and reliable financial information is produced and that assets are properly safeguarded. 
Management also believes that the WCB’s operations are conducted in conformity with the law and with a high 
standard of business conduct. The internal auditor performs periodic audits designed to test the adequacy and 
consistency of the WCB’s internal controls.

The Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing management in the performance of its financial reporting 
responsibilities and approved the financial statements and other financial information included in this annual report 
on April 19, 2016.

The Audit Committee assists the Board of Directors in its responsibilities. This Committee reviews and recommends 
approval of the consolidated financial statements and annual report. Internal and external auditors and actuaries 
have unlimited access to the Audit Committee. The Committee reviews the financial statements and other content 
of the annual report with management and the external auditors, and reports to the Board of Directors prior to their 
approval for publication.

The Chief Actuary of the WCB completed an actuarial valuation of the benefit liabilities included in the financial 
statements of the WCB and reported thereon in accordance with accepted actuarial practices. The firm of Eckler 
Ltd. has been appointed as a peer reviewer to the WCB. The Chief Actuary’s opinion on the valuation of the benefit 
liabilities is provided on page 33. Eckler Ltd.’s actuarial review is provided on page 34.

Grant Thornton LLP, independent auditors appointed as a sub-agent to the Provincial Auditor General, has performed 
an independent audit of the consolidated financial statements of the WCB in accordance with Canadian generally 
accepted auditing standards. Their Auditor’s Report, on page 35, outlines the scope of this independent audit and 
includes their opinion expressed on the 2015 consolidated financial statements.

Winston Maharaj 
President and CEO

Lorena B. Trann, FCPA, FCMA 
Chief Financial Officer

April 19, 2016
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2015 Management Discussion and Analysis
As an integral part of the annual report, the management discussion and analysis provides further insights into the 
operations and financial position of the WCB and should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial 
statements and supporting notes.

2015 Results
In 2015, positive results in investment returns and claim costs incurred produced an operating surplus of $95 million 
(budget, $16 million). After recording unbudgeted gains on the WCB pension plan, total comprehensive income was 
$108 million.

Investment returns were 7.9 per cent, resulting in $112 million of income ($32 million over budget). Premium 
revenues of $285 million were $24 million over budget due to higher revenues from self insured employers.

The 2015 cost of claims of $212 million were $21 million under budget due to fewer claims and lower costs per claim.

Other comprehensive income of $13 million was experienced, an outcome of recording a gain on the WCB pension plan.

The WCB’s accident fund reserve increased from $527 million to $621 million, exceeding the accident fund reserve 
target level (calculated at $448 million for 2015). The WCB is fully funded with a funding ratio of 143.3 per cent 
versus target of 130.0 per cent.
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Revenue
The WCB’s revenue is derived from two sources: premium revenue and investment income.

Premium Revenue 
Premium revenue is the largest revenue stream for the WCB. Premium revenue was $285 million in 2015 
($286 million in 2014), versus the budget of $263 million. The final average assessment rate per $100 of assessable 
payroll was $1.29 (budget, $1.30).

Premiums are derived from Class E and self insured employers:

• 2015 Class E employers’ premiums were $230 million, down nine per cent from 2014 as a result of a 13 per cent 
drop in the average assessment rate (2015, $1.30 vs. 2014, $1.50).

• 2014 self insured employers’ premiums, which are calculated based on claim costs incurred, were $55 million 
($33 million in 2013), increasing as a result of changed claims experience in 2015.

The chart below shows the components of the 2015 premium revenue:

Self insured Employers Class E Employers

Premium Revenues

2015

2014

0

50 100 150 200 250

300

55.3 230.1

253.732.7
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Investment Income 
In 2015, the WCB experienced investment income of $112 million from its investment portfolio ($127 million in 
2014). Investment income was budgeted at $80 million for 2015.

The investment portfolio is comprised of a variety of asset classes as set by policy. At December 31, 2015, the portfolio 
had a market value of $1.6 billion ($1.5 billion at the end of 2014) and an asset mix of 40 per cent fixed income, 
40 per cent equities and 20 per cent real assets (41 per cent fixed income, 41 per cent equities and 18 per cent real 
assets in 2014).

The WCB has engaged a number of professional investment managers. Each of these managers has a mandate as well 
as a benchmark rate of return to achieve. The gross returns before expenses by manager mandate and a comparison of 
this result to the benchmark returns are displayed in the following chart.

2015 Returns by Manager Mandate

% Return (Gross) Benchmark Index
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The investment portfolio’s gross rate of return was 7.9 per cent in 2015 (benchmark 5.4 per cent) and 9.9 per cent in 
2014 (benchmark 9.9 per cent). In 2015, the portfolio benefitted from exposure to non-Canadian equity markets and 
currencies.

In 2015, weak commodity prices, particularly oil, had a significantly negative impact on the Canadian economy, stock 
market and the Canadian dollar. In the U.S., the Federal Reserve raised the target range of its benchmark interest rate 
by 0.25 per cent in late 2015, the first increase since the 2008 financial crisis.  This rate increase suggests confidence 
in the U.S. economy. The Bank of Canada cut the overnight rate twice in 2015, reflecting the Bank’s concern over the 
impact of low oil and gas prices on the Canadian economy.

Outlook: The Canadian economy is faced with serious challenges due to the unfavourable outlook for commodities, 
especially oil. However, Canada should benefit from monetary easing, the low Canadian dollar and the ongoing U.S. 
recovery. Market reaction to further rate increases in the U.S. is uncertain. Volatility in equity markets is likely to 
continue. It is unlikely that interest rates will increase in Canada in 2016, but there is risk that the Bank of Canada 
will lower rates further if oil prices do not stabilize.
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Claim Costs Incurred
Claim costs incurred are an estimate of the full costs for compensable injuries that occurred in 2015, together with 
adjustments to prior years’ estimates. The estimates take into account claims that are in pay, reported but as yet 
unpaid claims, and unreported claims.

Claim costs incurred decreased $11 million (5 per cent) to $212 million in 2015 with the increased or decreased costs 
arising due to actuarial adjustments.

Short Term 
Disability

Long Term 
Disability

Survivor 
Benefits

Healthcare 
Benefits

Rehabilitation 
Services

Total

(in millions of dollars)

2015 $ 35.3 $ 111.2 $ 7.0 $ 60.5 $ (2.4) $ 211.6

2014 60.5 69.7 20.3 71.2 0.5 222.1

(Decrease) increase $ (25.2) $ 41.5 $ (13.3) $ (10.7) $ (2.8) $ (10.6)

Benefit Liabilities
The benefit liabilities increased $40 million (4 per cent) in 2015, due to actuarial adjustments.

Short Term 
Disability

Long Term 
Disability

Survivor 
Benefits

Healthcare 
Benefits

Rehabilitation 
Services

Total

(in millions of dollars)

2015 $ 146.3 $ 536.9 $ 133.2 $ 298.2 $ 6.0 $ 1,120.5

2014 164.4 478.4 139.4 289.9 8.6 1,080.7

(Decrease) increase $ (18.0) $ 58.5 $ (6.2) $ 8.3 $ (2.6) $ 39.8
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Operating Expenses
Operating expenses in 2015 were $2 million under budget at $91 million. Operating expenses increased $9 million 
from 2014 due to the WCB’s work to modernize the compensation system. Additional investments were made in 
Compliance, Information Technology, Compensation Services and SAFE Work Manitoba.

2% Information technology service fees

69% Salaries, employee 
benefits and training

10% Province of Manitoba Workplace Safety 
and Health Department funding

5% SAFE Work Manitoba

3% Amortization of capital assets

Occupancy costs3%
4% Office supplies, services and projects

2% Communications

1% Research and Workplace 
Innovation Program grants

1% Appeal Commission

Components of 2015 Operating Expenses

Operating Income
The operating income of $95 million increased the accident fund reserve to $621 million.

Other Comprehensive Income and Total Comprehensive Income
The other comprehensive income for 2015 was $13 million. This income is the result of an increase in the pension 
plan’s prescribed discount rate for accounting purposes (4.25 per cent at December 31, 2015 versus four per cent 
at December 31, 2014). The 2015 income reduced accumulated other comprehensive loss to $56 million as at 
December 31, 2015 ($69 million in 2014).

The total comprehensive income for the year was $108 million versus the budget of $16 million.

Balance Sheet
The 2015 funding ratio (ratio of total assets to total liabilities) was 143.3 per cent (136.0 per cent in 2014) which 
exceeded the target ratio of 130.0 per cent. This ratio is one measure of the financial strength of the WCB, as any 
amount over 100 per cent indicates the WCB is fully funded.

The accident fund reserve was $621 million ($527 million in 2014), which exceeded the target balance of $448 million 
set by the WCB’s Funding Policy. The 2016 – 2020 Five Year Plan financials incorporate a reduction to the average 
premium rate in order to dispose of the excess reserves.
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Risk Management
On an annual basis, the WCB identifies and assesses key corporate risks, and implements mitigation strategies to 
manage these risks, which are embedded in the strategic planning and budgeting cycles.

Corporate risks are monitored and updated on a regular basis to reflect changes in the organization’s risk profile. The 
corporate risk profile below shows the WCB’s most significant risks and residual risk ratings for 2015. The residual 
risk assessment considers the processes, controls and mitigation strategies in place to manage risk.

Low risk Medium risk Medium high risk High risk

1. Organizational capability

2. Technology

3. Corporate renewal

4. System integrity

5. Fraud and program abuse

6. Workplace injury and illness prevention

7. Stakeholder confidence

8. Security and business continuity

9. Benefit costs

10. Funding
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Actuarial Opinion
with respect to Future Benefit Liabilities of the Workers Compensation Board of Manitoba 
based on an actuarial valuation as at December 31, 2015

I have completed an actuarial valuation as at December 31, 2015 of the benefit liabilities for insured and self insured 
employers under The Workers Compensation Act of Manitoba as amended to the valuation date. The purpose of this 
valuation was to estimate the liabilities of the WCB with respect to injuries that occurred on or before the valuation 
date for inclusion in the 2015 financial statements which are prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards.

My estimate of the liabilities as at December 31, 2015 is $1,120.5 million. This includes provisions for claims arising 
from specific long latent occupational diseases including Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder.

I reviewed the data and have performed tests to confirm their reasonableness and consistency with that used in the 
prior valuation.

The economic assumptions used have changed since the prior valuation. The discount rate used is 5.75 per cent 
(6.0 per cent in prior valuation). The inflation assumptions are 2.75 per cent (3.0 per cent in prior valuation) for 
inflation linked benefits, 3.75 per cent (4.0 per cent in prior valuation) for wage linked benefits and 5.25 per cent 
(6.5 per cent in prior valuation) for healthcare benefits.

The mortality assumption for disability and survivor benefits is the generational table created from the Manitoba Life 
Table 2009-2011 projected from 2010 using the CPM-B projection scale. The mortality assumption for life insurance 
benefits is the static table created from the Manitoba Life Table 2009-2011 projected to 2015 using the CPM-B 
projection scale. The mortality assumptions are unchanged from the prior valuation.

The assumptions and methods used in the valuation, as described in my report, are based on the current practices and 
administrative procedures of the WCB and on historical claims experience.

In my opinion, the data on which the valuation is based are sufficient and reliable for the purpose of the valuation.

In my opinion, the assumptions are appropriate for the purpose of the valuation.

In my opinion, the methods employed in the valuation are appropriate for the purpose of the valuation.

In my opinion, the amount of the benefit liabilities makes appropriate provision for all personal injury compensation 
obligations and the financial statements fairly present the results of the valuation.

This report has been prepared, and my opinions given, in accordance with accepted actuarial practice in Canada.

Respectfully submitted,

Michael Williams, Fellow, Canadian Institute of Actuaries
Chief Actuary, WCB

March 2, 2016
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Actuarial Review
with respect to the Valuation of the Future Benefit Liabilities of the Workers Compensation Board 
of Manitoba 
as at December 31, 2015

We have reviewed the actuarial valuation as at December 31, 2015 of the benefit liabilities for insured and self insured 
employers under The Workers Compensation Act of Manitoba as amended to the valuation date. The valuation was 
performed by the Chief Actuary of the Workers Compensation Board of Manitoba. The purpose of the valuation was to 
estimate the liabilities of the WCB with respect to injuries that occurred on or before the valuation date for inclusion 
in the 2015 financial statements.

We have performed such tests of the data used, the assumptions made and the calculation models underlying the 
valuation as we considered necessary.

The valuation determined benefit liabilities as at December 31, 2015 to be $1,120.5 million. This includes provisions 
for claims arising from specific long latent occupational diseases and for the future cost of administering claims. In 
our opinion, this amount constitutes an appropriate provision for benefit liabilities as at December 31, 2015.

Our review has been conducted, and our opinions given, in accordance with accepted actuarial practice in Canada.

Respectfully submitted, 
Eckler Ltd.

Andrew Kulyk 
Fellow, Canadian Institute of Actuaries

Richard Border 
Fellow, Canadian Institute of Actuaries

March 2, 2016 March 2, 2016
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Workers Compensation Board of Manitoba

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Workers Compensation Board of 
Manitoba (WCB), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2015, and 
the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in funded 
position and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s responsibility for the financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that 
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation 
and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness 
of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audit is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial 
position of WCB as at December 31, 2015, and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Grant Thornton LLP, Chartered Professional Accountants 
Winnipeg, Manitoba 
April 19, 2016
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
December 31
(in thousands of dollars)

Note 2015 2014

Assets
Cash 3 $ 13,837 $ 11,275 
Receivables and other 4 6,947 5,982 
Investment portfolio 5 1,681,181 1,572,732 
Deferred assessments 7 137,335 106,273 
Property, plant and equipment 8 26,864 25,913 
Intangible assets 9 4,111 3,504 

 
$ 1,870,275 $ 1,725,679 

Liabilities and funded position
Payables and accruals 10 $ 12,460 $ 11,776 
Workers' retirement annuity fund 11 29,814 27,514 
Employee benefits 12 84,789 89,271 
Mortgages payable on investment properties 5 57,492 59,306 
Benefit liabilities 13 1,120,525 1,080,682 

Total liabilities 1,305,080 1,268,549 

Accident fund reserve 621,402 526,644 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (56,207) (69,514)

Funded position 565,195 457,130 

$ 1,870,275 $ 1,725,679 

Authorized for issue on April 19, 2016 on behalf of the Board of Directors,

Michael D. Werier 
Chairperson, Board of Directors

Jane MacKay 
Audit Committee of the Board of Directors

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Operations 
and Comprehensive Income
Year Ended December 31
(in thousands of dollars)

Note 2015 2014

Revenue
Premium revenue 15 $ 285,400 $ 286,400 
Investment and real estate income 5 111,520 127,286 

Total revenue 396,920 413,686

Expenses
Claim costs incurred 13 211,550 222,100 
Operating expenses 16 90,612 81,323 

Total expenses 302,162 303,423

Operating surplus 94,758 110,263

Other comprehensive income (loss)

Defined benefit plan remeasurements 12 13,307 (34,807)

Total comprehensive income $ 108,065 $ 75,456

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Funded Position
Year Ended December 31
(in thousands of dollars)

Note 2015 2014

Funded position

Accident fund reserve
Balance at beginning of year $ 526,644 $ 416,381 
Operating surplus 94,758 110,263 

621,402 526,644

Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Balance at beginning of year $ (69,514) $ (34,707)
Other comprehensive income (loss) 13,307 (34,807)

(56,207) (69,514)

Funded position, end of year $ 565,195 $ 457,130

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.



2015 WCB ANNUAL REPORT  |  39

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Year Ended December 31
(in thousands of dollars)

Note 2015 2014

Operating cash flows
Premiums from employers $ 253,761 $ 307,575 
Receipt (refund) of prior years pension losses (gains) 7 949 (29,632)
Investment income 59,576 44,586 
Claim payments 13 (171,707) (178,383)
Purchases of goods and services (85,194) (78,111)

Net operating cash flows 57,385 66,035 

Investing cash flows
Purchases of investments (1,169,250) (726,499)
Proceeds on disposal of investments 1,118,842 667,383 
Asset acquisitions (4,415) (3,644)

Net investing cash flows (54,823) (62,760)

Net increase in cash 2,562 3,275 

Cash at beginning of year 11,275 8,000

Cash at end of year $ 13,837 $ 11,275

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year Ended December 31, 2015 
($ amounts in thousands of dollars unless otherwise noted)

1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS
Reporting Entity 
The Workers Compensation Board of Manitoba (the WCB) is a statutory corporation created by the Manitoba Legislature. 
The WCB is a government agency of the Province of Manitoba that operates at arm’s-length from government.

The WCB was created in 1917 under the authority of The Workers Compensation Act (the Act) of Manitoba. In accordance 
with the provisions of the Act, the WCB is responsible for:

• prevention of workplace injuries and illnesses
• administering payments to injured workers and suppliers of services to injured workers
• levying and collecting premiums from established classes of employers in amounts sufficient to cover the current 

and future costs of existing claims
• investing funds set aside for the future costs of claims as well as surplus funds.

SAFE Work Manitoba operates as a separate arm of the WCB and is responsible for the delivery of prevention-related 
services mandated under the Act.

An independent Workers Compensation Appeal Commission operates under the Act to make final rulings on any 
appeals pertaining to the WCB’s assessment or benefits decisions.

The WCB’s vision is a trusted partner, insuring today and building a safer tomorrow. The organization’s mission is to insure 
and support safe and healthy workplaces. We put workers and employers at the centre of all we do. We provide 
them with valued services for injury prevention, compensation, and return to health and work while maintaining 
system integrity.

The WCB has its corporate head office in Winnipeg, Manitoba.

Funding Policy and Capital Management 
The workers compensation system is funded through premiums collected from employers. The WCB does not receive 
government funding or assistance. Available funds are invested and are used to protect the WCB and its ratepayers 
from general business risks and catastrophic events in areas such as investment returns or extraordinary claim costs. 
To that end, an accident fund reserve attributable to Class E employers exists.

The target balance for the accident fund reserve is calculated based on a targeted funding ratio of 130 per cent. The 
funding ratio of 130 per cent includes amounts to reflect potential downturns in the financial markets and other 
risks and uncertainties. The calculation moves in tandem with changes in the size of the WCB’s assets and liabilities, 
thereby calculating a reserve target that reduces risk to the organization. The target balance for the reserves was 
$447.7 million at the end of 2015 ($450.1 million in 2014).

The WCB’s Funding Policy is intended to ensure that fiduciary responsibilities are carried out in accordance with the 
Act and that annual influences do not unduly distort the funding process. The WCB is committed to operating on a 
fully funded basis to a level funding standard. Full funding requires that current employers pay for the current and 
future cost of existing compensable injuries and their administration, rather than future generations of employers 
paying for those injuries. Under level funding, the cost of claims with lengthy latency periods is funded in a level 
manner over the workers’ periods of exposure to the elements that led to the injuries or illnesses.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Preparation 
The consolidated financial statements of the WCB are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) in effect as at December 31, 2015, which have been adopted by the Accounting Standards Board 
of Canada (AcSB) as Canadian generally accepted accounting principles for public interest entities. The principal 
accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.

Basis of Measurement 
The consolidated financial statements of the WCB have been prepared on a historic cost basis except for investment 
properties and those financial assets and financial liabilities that have been measured at fair value. The WCB’s 
functional currency is the Canadian dollar, which is the currency of the primary economic environment in which 
the WCB operates, which is also the presentation currency of the consolidated financial statements. All financial 
information presented in Canadian dollars has been rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise stated.

Basis of Consolidation 
These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the WCB and its wholly owned real estate investment 
subsidiary WCB Realty Limited. Intercompany balances and transactions are eliminated on consolidation.

Use of Estimates and Measurement Uncertainty and Critical Judgements 
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS, which requires the WCB to make estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets 
and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the 
reporting periods. As a result, some of the reported amounts are subject to measurement uncertainty. Measurement 
uncertainty exists when there is a variance between the recognized amount and another reasonable amount. 
Assumptions and estimates are reviewed on an ongoing basis, and any related revisions are recorded in the period in 
which they are adjusted. Consequently, actual results could differ from these estimates by significant amounts. 
Level 3 portfolio investments (Note 5), employee benefits (Note 12) and benefit liabilities (Note 13) are the most 
significant items based on accounting estimates.

Certain investment properties have been determined as joint operations as the WCB has joint control over the assets 
with other parties through contractual arrangements and the WCB has rights to the specific assets and obligations for 
the liabilities.

Changes in Accounting Policies 
Future Accounting and Reporting Changes 
The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) is working towards continual improvement through the 
development of new accounting standards and the annual improvements process. The IASB will issue a number of 
exposure drafts of new or revised standards over the next several years. The WCB monitors the IASB work plans and 
publications to address any developments that may impact the organization.

The IASB published a revised exposure draft, IFRS 4, Insurance Contracts, in 2013. This revision aims to provide a 
consistent basis for accounting for insurance contracts. While the final standard has not been published, the proposed 
standard represents a major change in accounting for insurance contracts and is expected to have a significant impact 
on the financial reporting of entities such as the WCB. This standard has an anticipated effective date of January 1, 2020.
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Specific Accounting Policies 
Cash 
Cash includes cash on hand and balances with banks, net of any outstanding cheques. Cash and short term investments 
held by investment managers and custodians for investment purposes are included in the investment portfolio.

Receivables and Other 
Receivables are mainly assessed premiums due from employers, recorded at the estimated premium payable net of a 
provision for doubtful accounts. Sundry receivables consist of claim related overpayments, payroll related items and 
prepaid maintenance contracts.

Investment Portfolio and Mortgages Payable on Investment Properties 
The investment portfolio is managed according to the objectives and policies established by the Statement of Investment 
Policies and Objectives. The statement acknowledges that there is no single asset class that directly matches the 
obligations and objectives of the WCB, and that a portfolio diversified across a number of distinct asset classes 
represents the optimal means of meeting the WCB’s investment objectives. The investment portfolio is comprised 
of portfolio investments consisting of financial assets accounted for in accordance with IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, 
and investment properties consisting of real estate assets accounted for in accordance with International Accounting 
Standard 40 (IAS 40) Investment Properties. Mortgages payable on investment properties are accounted for in 
accordance with IFRS 9 Financial Instruments.

Portfolio Investments 
The WCB’s investments have been designated at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL). As such, all investments 
are reported at fair value, which is the market value.

• Publicly traded investments are stated at year end market prices as listed on the appropriate stock exchange, 
or as provided by the custodian from independent sources.

• Pooled fund investments are valued at the most recent unit values supplied by the pooled fund administrator 
at year end.

• Investments denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Canadian dollars at the exchange rates in 
effect at the statement of financial position date. Foreign currency exchange gains and losses are recorded in 
the period in which they arise.

Investment Properties 
The WCB owns real estate investment properties directly or by joint arrangement through its wholly owned 
real estate investment subsidiary WCB Realty Limited. These properties are held to earn rentals or for capital 
appreciation or both, and are intended to be long term assets. The WCB views the investment properties as 
an integral component of the diversified investment portfolio with the same value and purpose as all other 
investment holdings.

• Investment property assets are recognized at fair value.
• Fair value of the investment properties is determined by annual appraisal conducted by independent qualified 

appraisers. A gain or loss arising from a change in the fair value of investment property is recognized in profit 
or loss for the period in which it arises.

• Investment properties which are determined to be joint operations are recorded in relation to the interest held 
in the joint operations.

Mortgages Payable on Investment Properties 
Mortgages payable on investment properties are initially recognized at fair value less transaction costs. Mortgages 
payable on investment properties are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.
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Joint Arrangements 
A joint arrangement is an arrangement of which two or more parties have joint control. In a joint arrangement 
the parties are bound by a contractual arrangement and the contractual arrangement gives two or more of those 
parties joint control of the arrangement. A joint arrangement is either a joint operation or a joint venture.

The WCB is a joint operator through the wholly owned subsidiary WCB Realty Limited, and as such recognizes 
in relation to its interest in a joint operation its assets, including its share of any assets held jointly; its liabilities, 
including its share of any liabilities incurred jointly; its revenue from the sale of its share of the output arising 
from the joint operation; its share of the revenue from the sale of the output by the joint operation; and its 
expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred jointly.

Deferred Assessments 
Deferred assessments represent the WCB’s estimate of the present value of premiums which will be received in the 
future from self insured employers to fund the future costs of existing claims that have arisen from their employees. 
As such, the fair value for deferred assessments is not readily determinable.

The deferred assessments may be secured by irrevocable letters of credit or other suitable forms of guarantee.

Property, Plant and Equipment 
Property, plant and equipment are valued at cost, less accumulated amortization and any accumulated impairment 
loss. Amortization is calculated on a straight line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset, as follows:

Building 40 years
Land not amortized
Building renovations and leasehold improvements 2 to 10 years
Computer equipment 3 to 5 years
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 5 years

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no further economic benefits are 
expected from its use. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is included in operating expenses.

The carrying amounts of the WCB’s non-financial assets are reviewed at each reporting date to ensure that assets are 
not carried in excess of the recoverable amount.

Intangible Assets 
Acquired intangible assets, primarily computer software, are valued at cost less accumulated amortization. 
Amortization is calculated on a straight line basis over the estimated useful life, and included in operating expenses.

Internally generated intangible assets, primarily software and systems development, including professional fees 
incurred to implement these assets, are valued at cost and amortized over their useful lives. Amortization is calculated 
on a straight line basis over the estimated useful life, as follows:

Computer software 3 years
Internally generated systems development 10 years

The carrying amounts of the WCB’s non-financial assets are reviewed at each reporting date to ensure that assets are 
not carried in excess of the recoverable amount.
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Payables and Accruals 
Payables and accruals are obligations to pay for goods and services acquired in the normal course of operations. The 
WCB records a liability and an expense for goods upon receipt or transfer of control, and for services when they are 
performed. Other payables include various payroll-related liabilities and deposits from self insured employers. The 
timing and amount of payables and accruals are readily determinable. These amounts are normally settled before the 
end of the next reporting period.

Workers’ Retirement Annuity Fund 
In accordance with Section 42(2) of The Workers Compensation Act, where wage loss benefits are paid to a worker after 
a qualifying period, the WCB is required to invest on a worker’s behalf an amount equal to a percentage between 
five per cent and seven per cent, to provide an annuity for the worker at retirement. In addition, the worker may 
contribute an amount of not more than the amount contributed by the WCB. This annuity fund is part of the WCB 
investment portfolio and is intended to establish or replace lost pension entitlement resulting from a work-related 
injury or illness.

Employee Benefits 
The WCB has several employee benefit plans:

Short Term Benefits 
Short term employee benefits are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed when the services are 
rendered. These benefits include wages, salary, vacation entitlements and group health plans.

Other Benefit Plans 
The WCB sick leave plan is a multi-faceted benefit plan. Sick leave credits are earned and payable in the form of 
sick leave in the current year. Unused sick leave credits are accumulated and carried forward to future periods, and 
are available to be taken as sick leave when the current year entitlement is exhausted. For employees that meet 
established criteria upon termination or retirement, the sick leave plan represents a post-employment benefit plan 
that provides for payment of sick leave credits. For accounting purposes, it is treated as a defined benefit plan and 
the liability is valued on the basis of discount rates and other estimates that are consistent with the estimates used 
for defined benefit obligations. For this unfunded plan, where the WCB funds the obligation directly from its own 
resources, employee contributions are not required.

The WCB Retiree Healthcare Spending Account (the RHCSA) was introduced March 1, 2014. Eligible retirees 
receive a predetermined annual credit amount which may be used to cover healthcare expenses not covered by 
other plans. The RHCSA is a defined benefit plan. The WCB funds this plan directly via the plan administrator.

Pensions 
The pension plan, comprised of the WCB Retirement Plan and the Supplementary Employee Retirement Plan, 
is funded by employee and employer contributions. The WCB Retirement Plan is a defined benefit pension plan 
that provides indexed pensions (two-thirds of the Consumer Price Index for Canada) based on years of service 
and the best five consecutive years average earnings in the last 12 years of employment. The Supplementary 
Employee Retirement Plan provides that the employees of the WCB, whose pension benefits exceed the maximum 
pension benefit permitted under the federal Income Tax Act, will receive pension benefits based on their total 
pensionable earnings.
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The WCB measures its accrued benefit obligations and the fair value of plan assets for accounting purposes 
as at December 31 of each year, using actuarial assumptions that are unbiased and mutually compatible. The 
assumptions represent management’s best estimates of the variables that will determine the ultimate cost of 
post-employment benefits. Actuarial assumptions are comprised of demographic assumptions on matters such as 
mortality and employee turnover, and financial assumptions on matters such as salary and benefit levels, interest 
rates and return on investments. Given the long term nature of the plan and the use of these assumptions, the 
resulting estimates are subject to significant uncertainty.

The Projected Unit Credit Method is used to calculate the defined benefit obligations and current service 
costs. This method reflects service rendered by employees to the date of valuation and incorporates actuarial 
assumptions regarding discount rates used to determine the present value of benefits, projected rates of salary 
growth and long term expected rate of return on plan assets.

Discount rates are based on the market yields of high-quality corporate bonds.

In accordance with IAS 19, the net interest approach is used to disaggregate the costs of the pension plan. The 
change in the net defined benefit liability is disaggregated into the following components:

• Service cost, or the additional liability that arises from employees providing service during the period
• Net interest or the interest expense on the net defined benefit liability calculated using the discount rate
• Remeasurements, which are other changes in the value of the defined benefit obligation such as changes in 

estimates and other changes in the value of plan assets.

Service cost and net interest are recognized in operating surplus whereas remeasurements are recognized in other 
comprehensive income. Employee contributions, which are independent of the number of years of service, are 
treated as a reduction of service cost.

When past service costs arise they are recognized immediately.

Benefit Liabilities 
Under the provisions of the Act, the WCB has a legislated obligation to accept insurance risk from employers in 
exchange for premiums paid for WCB coverage.

The WCB’s Chief Actuary prepares a valuation of the benefit liabilities of the WCB at each year-end. This valuation 
is conducted in accordance with accepted actuarial practice in Canada, and is subject to peer review by the WCB’s 
consulting external actuary. The benefit liabilities represent the actuarial present value of all future benefit payments 
expected to be made for claims or injuries which occurred in the current fiscal year or in any prior year. The benefit 
liabilities include provisions for all benefits provided by current legislation, policies and/or administrative practices 
in respect of existing claims, plus provisions for the future expenses of administering the existing claims. Differences 
arising from actual claims experience and assumptions used for the previous valuation, as well as the impacts of 
changes in legislation, policy, administrative practice or actuarial methods and assumptions, are recognized in the 
period that they occur.

The benefit liabilities also include an estimated liability for certain long latent occupational diseases. Due to the 
nature of the estimated liability for long latent occupational diseases and the extent of related historical claims 
information currently available, this liability is more uncertain by its nature than other benefit liabilities. As 
information is accumulated and analyzed, adjustments may be necessary to improve precision.
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Fair Value of Other Financial Assets and Liabilities 
Other financial assets and liabilities consist of cash, receivables and other, and payables and accruals. The carrying 
value of these items approximates their fair value, consistent with the short term nature of these items.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss is a subsection of the funded position. It is comprised of cumulative 
remeasurements arising from changes in the value of defined benefit obligations that in accordance with IFRS are 
recognized in other comprehensive income but excluded from the operating surplus.

Revenue Recognition 
Premium Revenue 
The operations of the WCB are categorized, in accordance with the Act, into Class E (general employers pool) and 
several classes of self insured employers.

General Employers Pool 
Employers registered within Class E are subject to collective liability and premium revenue is estimated by 
applying applicable industry assessment rates to the employers’ reported assessable payrolls for the current year. 
Any difference between the estimated premium revenue and the actual premium revenue is credited or charged to 
income in the year the determination is made.

Premium revenue is fully earned and recognized over the period that coverage is provided. Premium revenue 
reported in the period is recorded net of uncollectable account write-offs, interest and penalties on overdue 
amounts and adjustments of premiums for prior periods.

Self Insured Employers 
Self insured employers – principally government bodies and railways and their subsidiaries – are subject to 
individual responsibility for costs attributable to claims arising from their employees, as well as administration 
expenses incurred on behalf of self insured employers. As such, premium revenue from self insured employers 
is recognized as these costs are incurred. Current costs are collected as billed while future costs are recorded as 
deferred assessments.

The Government of Canada and its agencies are self insured based on the Government Employees Compensation Act. 
Under this Act, the administration of this program is delegated to the WCB which acts as agent of the Government 
of Canada for the payment of compensation to federal employees in this province.

Investment and Real Estate Income 
Income from interest and dividends is recognized in the period earned, and changes in fair value are presented 
in the period in which they arise. Gross lease revenue for operating leases is recorded on the straight-line 
revenue basis.

Foreign Currency Translation 
Transactions in foreign currency are converted to Canadian dollars at the exchange rate in effect at the time of the 
transaction. Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Canadian dollars at the 
exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date.
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3. CASH AND LINES OF CREDIT
Cash reported in the consolidated statement of financial position is comprised of:

2015 2014

Cash in transit and in banks $ 18,572 $ 14,717 
Cheques issued and outstanding (4,735) (3,442)

 Net operating cash flows $ 13,837 $ 11,275

In addition, the WCB has established an operating line of credit with its principal banker in the amount of $3 million. 
Advances on the line of credit bear interest at the bank’s prime interest rate. The WCB has also established a revolving 
credit facility with the Province of Manitoba in the amount of $40 million. Advances on the revolving credit facility 
bear interest at the Province’s preferred lending rate. Both credit facilities are unsecured.

The WCB did not utilize the credit facilities in 2015 or 2014.

4. RECEIVABLES AND OTHER
Receivables and other reported in the consolidated statement of financial position is comprised of:

2015 2014

Premiums - Class E employers $ 3,722 $ 2,446 
Provision for doubtful accounts (1,004) (957)

2,718 1,489 

Current assessments - Self insured employers 413 2,781 
Sundry 3,816 1,712 

 
$ 6,947 $ 5,982

5. INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO AND MORTGAGES PAYABLE ON INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
The total investments of the WCB are comprised of the investment portfolio net of mortgages payable on investment 
properties. The investments are reported in the comprehensive statement of financial position as:

2015 2014

Portfolio investments $ 1,504,890 $ 1,388,893 
Investment properties 176,291 183,839 

Investment portfolio 1,681,181 1,572,732 
Mortgages payable on investment properties (57,492) (59,306)

Total investments $ 1,623,689 $ 1,513,426
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Investment Portfolio Holdings 
The following table presents the value of the WCB’s investments, together with their classification under the fair 
value hierarchy:

2015 2014

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Total

Fixed Income
Bonds $ 475,794 $ - $ - $ 475,794 $ 412,964 
Mortgages - 121,701 - 121,701 126,685 
Cash and short term 81,780 - - 81,780 97,969 

557,574 121,701 - 679,275 637,618
Equities

Canadian 228,486 - - 228,486 229,834 
U.S. 242,488 - - 242,488 251,949 
Europe, Australasia & Far East 149,305 - - 149,305 124,923 
Emerging markets 40,797 - - 40,797 37,372 
Private placements - - 4,823 4,823 4,689 

661,076 - 4,823 665,899 648,767
Real estate

Portfolio investments - - 62,232 62,232 60,725 

Investment properties* - - 176,291 176,291 183,839 
- - 238,523 238,523 244,564

Infrastructure - - 97,484 97,484 41,783

$ 1,218,650 $ 121,701 $ 340,830 $ 1,681,181 $ 1,572,732

*Investment properties include the commercial real estate properties consolidated from WCB Realty Limited, which includes directly owned 
properties and properties owned through joint arrangements.

The fair value of the WCB’s portfolio investments and investment properties are categorized into three levels 
comprising the fair value hierarchy. Valuations are provided by investment managers for financial reporting purposes. 
Valuation techniques are selected based on the characteristics of the investment, with the overall objective of 
maximizing the use of market-based information. Management is responsible for ensuring that the chosen valuation 
technique is appropriate in the circumstances.

The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are:

Level 1 – The fair value is based on quoted prices in active markets for identical assets.

Level 2 – The fair value is based on inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset either directly 
or indirectly. The following technique is used:
• The fair value of fixed income investments is determined using an income approach, calculating the present 

value of the future cash flows based on observable yield curves.
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Level 3 – The fair value is based on inputs that are not based on observable market data. The following techniques 
are used to determine the fair value of investments categorized as Level 3:
• The fair value of private placement equity investments is determined by management based on financial 

information provided by individual capital fund managers, adjusted if deemed appropriate.
• The fair value of infrastructure is determined based on the underlying assets in the pooled fund using the most 

up-to-date information available provided by the pooled fund manager and adjusted by management for any 
other information available.

• The fair value of real estate investments is determined using an income approach based on estimated rental 
income of the properties. Properties are valued annually by independent appraisals. The most significant 
assumptions, all of which are unobservable, are estimated rental income, capitalization rates, discount rates 
and estimated vacancy rates. The estimated fair value of the real estate portfolio is sensitive to changes in 
these assumptions, and the fair value increases if estimated rental income increases, or the capitalization rate 
decreases. As the WCB is invested in a diversified real estate portfolio, assumptions are appropriate to the 
underlying asset, asset type and location. The following table illustrates the significant inputs and range of 
assumptions used in the valuation of real estate investments:

Estimated rental income From $5.00/ sq. ft. to $25.88 / sq. ft.
Capitalization rates From 6.1% to 7.5% 

The following table reconciles the changes in the WCB’s Level 3 fair value measurements to December 31:

2015 2014

Balance at January 1 $ 290,941 $ 246,928 
Market gains (losses):

Unrealized 13,229 (4,663)
Purchases 56,720 55,421 
Sales (20,060) (6,745)

Balance at December 31 $ 340,830 $ 290,941

Mortgages Payable on Investment Properties 
The mortgages payable on investment properties are recorded at amortized cost as follows:

2015 2014

Mortgages payable on investment properties $ 57,492 $ 59,306 

The following information represents key facts related to mortgages payable on rental properties. Mortgages are 
secured by the underlying investment property.

Interest rates From 2.41% to 5.26%
Interest terms Variable and fixed
Maturity dates From 2016 to 2024
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The fair value of mortgages payable on investment properties is determined annually. Fair value is impacted by changes 
in market yields which can result in differences between the carrying value and the fair value of the instruments. The 
fair value of the mortgages payable has been estimated based on the current market rates for mortgages of similar 
terms and conditions. The fair value of these mortgages was $59.4 million as at December 31, 2015 ($61.1 million in 
2014) determined using the following:

Interest rates From 2.39% to 3.72%
Term to maturity 8 months to 102 months

These mortgages are categorized as Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

For 2016, scheduled principal and interest payments on these mortgages total $18.3 million. The scheduled amounts 
of principal repayments in each of the next five years are as follows:

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 Thereafter Total
$ 16,448 $ 1,600 $ 2,039 $ 9,801 $ 1,440 $ 26,164 $ 57,492

Investment Income 
Investment income, including net rental income and changes in fair value, was derived from the following sources:

2015 2014

Income
Net gains 

(losses) Total Total
Fixed Income

Bonds $ 17,125 $ (1,537) $ 15,588 $ 39,697 
Mortgages 5,274 (829) 4,445 5,889 
Cash and short term 369 2,271 2,640 1,516

22,768 (95) 22,673 47,102
Equities

Canadian 7,587 (10,558) (2,971) 25,618 
U.S. 6,464 37,249 43,713 43,996 
Europe, Australasia & Far East 3,680 20,702 24,382 4,424
Emerging markets 1,020 2,452 3,472 4,742
Private placements - 176 176 (1,613)

18,751 50,021 68,772 77,167
Real estate 

Portfolio investments 2,783 1,507 4,290 5,721 
Investment properties * 9,126 (2,336) 6,790 2,369 

11,909 (829) 11,080 8,090 

Infrastructure 3,011 13,395 16,406 1,035

Investment income $ 56,439 $ 62,492 118,931 133,394

Less: Portfolio management expenses 7,411 6,108

Net investment income $ 111,520 $ 127,286

*Investment properties income includes gross rental income of $19.5 million net of operating expenses of $7.9 million and mortgage interest of 
$2.5 million.
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Commitments 
The WCB has contractual agreements to contribute further funding to a maximum of $13.1 million ($42.6 million in 
2014) to specific investment projects to be financed from the existing portfolio or from available cash.

6. INVESTMENT RISK MANAGEMENT
In accordance with the Statement of Investment Policy and Objectives, the investment objective of the WCB is to 
generate a consistent, positive, real rate of return on invested assets. Recognizing the need to achieve a balance 
between risk and return, investment risk is managed through a portfolio that is diversified across a number of distinct 
asset classes, as well as geographic region and investment style.

The following sections describe the nature and extent of financial risk exposure and the related risk mitigation 
strategies.

Market Risk 
The WCB invests in publicly and privately traded equities and fixed income instruments available on domestic and 
foreign exchanges. As these securities are affected by market changes and fluctuations, the WCB is exposed to market 
risk as a result of price changes due to economic fluctuations in capital markets.

The following table presents the effect of a material change in the key risk variable – the sector benchmark – for each 
of the equity mandates in the WCB investment portfolio:

2015 2014
5 year annualized 5 year annualized

Equities +/- 1 standard deviation +/- 2 standard deviations +/- 1 standard deviation +/- 2 standard deviations

% change in benchmark 
Canadian

11.1% 
$25.6 million

22.2% 
$51.2 million

11.9% 
$27.7 million

23.8% 
$55.4 million

% change in benchmark 
U.S.

11.2% 
$28.7 million

22.4% 
$57.4 million

11.6% 
$31.3 million

23.2% 
$62.6 million

% change in benchmark 
Europe, Australasia & Far East

12.5% 
$18.7 million

25.0% 
$37.4 million

13.0% 
$16.2 million

26.0% 
$32.4 million

% change in benchmark 
Emerging markets

13.9% 
$5.7 million

27.8% 
$11.4 million

13.4% 
$5.0 million

26.8% 
$10.0 million

Credit Risk Management 
Credit exposure on fixed income securities arises from the possibility that the issuer of an instrument fails to meet its 
obligation to make interest payments and repay principal. To mitigate the risk of credit default, the minimum quality 
standard for individual bonds and debentures at time of purchase is BBB, as rated by an established bond rating 
service. To further mitigate this risk, bonds with a BBB rating are limited to a maximum of 15 per cent of the bond 
portfolio. The balance of the portfolio should be invested in bonds with a minimum rating of A or higher.

In addition to directly owned fixed income securities, the WCB is invested in a pooled bond fund. The pooled fund 
guidelines require that the average credit quality of the pooled fund’s assets must be BBB- or higher, and that 
non-investment grade securities shall not exceed 25 per cent of the pooled fund’s assets on a market value basis.

Of the fixed income assets in the investment portfolio, 80 per cent (89 per cent in 2014) have at least an A credit 
rating. The WCB does not anticipate that any borrowers will fail to meet their obligations.
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Securities Lending 
The WCB may lend, for fee income, any of its securities to third parties, provided the loans are secured by cash 
or readily marketable securities having a market value of at least 105 per cent of the market amount of the asset 
borrowed. As at December 31, 2015, these loans amounted to $109.2 million ($100.2 million in 2014). As at 
December 31, 2015, total collateral pledged to the WCB amounted to $114.7 million ($105.2 million in 2014).

Foreign Exchange Risk Management 
The WCB has certain investments denominated in foreign currencies, which exposes the WCB to foreign currency 
risk. During 2015, the WCB did not undertake hedging strategies for the currency risk of foreign investments. While 
currency fluctuations influenced short term returns, these fluctuations are not expected to affect the long term 
position of the investment portfolio.

The WCB has exposure to the U.S. dollar, with USD-denominated holdings of $348.0 million CAD ($348.9 million 
CAD in 2014) or 23.0 per cent of the portfolio (23.1 per cent in 2014).

The table below presents the effects of a material change in the Canadian/U.S. dollar exchange rates:

CAD/USD

2015 2014

10% appreciation in the Canadian dollar $ (31.6 million) $ (31.7 million)

Interest Rate Risk Management 
The WCB is exposed to interest rate risk to the extent that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial 
instrument fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates. These fluctuations are managed by actively controlling 
the duration of the fixed income portfolio. As at December 31, 2015, the duration of the WCB’s bond portfolio was 
7.2 years (8.7 years in 2014).

The following table shows the effects of a negative 50 and 100 basis point (where one basis point equals 1/100 of one 
per cent and 50 basis points equals 0.5 per cent) change in interest rates on the bond portfolio:

2015 2014

+/- basis point change 50 basis points 100 basis points 50 basis points 100 basis points
Bonds $17.3 million $34.6 million $18.1 million $36.2 million

The WCB is also subject to interest rate risk through the wholly owned subsidiary WCB Realty Limited. The mortgages 
payable on investment properties are primarily fixed rate mortgages which do not create cash flow risk.

Liquidity Risk Management 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the WCB will be unable to meet its financial obligations. To manage this risk, and avoid 
liquidation of portfolio assets under unfavourable conditions, the WCB maintains two credit facilities as discussed in 
Note 3.
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7. DEFERRED ASSESSMENTS
The changes in deferred assessments were as follows:

2015 2014

Balance at beginning of year $ 106,273 $ 70,136 

Increase in future cost liability 31,191 6,596 
(Decrease) increase in pension-related transactions (2,148) 1,941 
Interest allocation (12) (1,083)

Net change in deferred assessments (note 15) 29,031 7,454 
Refund of accumulated excess pension income - 29,632 
Current pension surplus (deficit) included in receivables and other 2,031 (949)

Balance at end of year $ 137,335 $ 106,273

8. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
The changes in property, plant and equipment were as follows:

2015 2014

Building 
and land

Building 
renovations 

and 
leaseholds

Computer 
equipment

Furniture, 
fixtures and 

equipment

Total Total

Cost
As at January 1 $ 23,574 $ 4,713 $ 6,557 $ 3,103 $ 37,947 $ 35,528 
Additions - 1,274 1,249 515 3,038 2,732 
Disposals - - (152) - (152) (313)
As at December 31 23,574 5,987 7,654 3,618 40,833 37,947 

Amortization
As at January 1 (1,791) (2,462) (5,240) (2,541) (12,034) (10,614)
Amortization charge (666) (487) (728) (206) (2,087) (1,733)
Disposals - - 152 - 152 313 
As at December 31 (2,457) (2,949) (5,816) (2,747) (13,969) (12,034)

Net book value, 
as at December 31 $ 21,117 $ 3,038 $ 1,838 $ 871 $ 26,864 $ 25,913
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9. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
The changes in intangible assets were as follows:

2015 2014

Computer 
software

Internally 
developed 

systems and 
software

Total Total

Cost
As at January 1 $ 3,945 $ 14,411 $ 18,356 $ 19,246 
Additions 220 1,157 1,377 913 
Disposals (119) - (119) (1,803)
As at December 31 4,046 15,568 19,614 18,356 

Amortization
As at January 1 (3,579) (11,273) (14,852) (15,841)
Amortization charge (213) (557) (770) (814)

Disposals 119 - 119 1,803 
As at December 31 (3,673) (11,830) (15,503) (14,852)

Net book value, 
as at December 31 $ 373 $ 3,738 $ 4,111 $ 3,504

10. PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS
Payables and accruals are comprised of:

2015 2014

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 4,241 $ 3,538 
Research and Workplace Innovation Program 1,779 1,972 
Deposits from self insured employers 5,104 4,932 
Other payables 1,336 1,334 

Balance at end of year $ 12,460 $ 11,776



2015 WCB ANNUAL REPORT  |  55

11. WORKERS’ RETIREMENT ANNUITY FUND
The changes in the workers’ retirement annuity fund were as follows:

2015 2014

Balance as at January 1 $ 27,514 $ 24,666 
Investment income 2,036 2,344 
WCB contributions 1,512 1,450 
Workers' contributions 433 426 
Benefits paid (1,681) (1,372)

Balance as at December 31 $ 29,814 $ 27,514

12. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Components of the employee benefits liability are as follows:

2015 2014

Employee pension plan $ 66,566 $ 71,642 
Sick leave plan 11,588 11,331 
Employee vacation entitlements 4,467 3,983 
Retiree healthcare spending account 1,930 1,853 
Other 238 462 

As at December 31 $ 84,789 $ 89,271

The WCB measures its accrued benefit obligations and the fair value of plan assets for accounting purposes as at 
December 31 of each year. The most recent actuarial valuation of the Retirement Plan for funding purposes, to be 
filed with the pension regulators, was as at December 31, 2015. This funding valuation showed a funding deficit of 
$6.2 million (2014 valuation, surplus of $1.0 million). The solvency deficit as at December 31, 2015 was $71.6 million 
(2014 valuation, deficit of $50.0 million). The WCB is not required to fund this deficiency as the WCB is exempt from 
the solvency and transfer deficiency provisions of the Pension Benefits Act.

Total cash payments for employee future benefits for 2015, consisting of cash contributed by the WCB to the funded 
pension plan and cash payments directly to beneficiaries for unfunded plans, were $4.9 million ($4.5 million in 2014). 
Based on historical experience and expected salary expense, the WCB expects to fund $6.1 million in 2016.
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The key actuarial assumptions used to value the employee benefit liabilities for accounting purposes are as follows:

Pension Plan Sick Leave Plan

2015 2014 2015 2014

Discount rate 4.25% 4.00% 4.25% 4.00%
Rate of compensation increase 3.50% 3.75% 3.50% 3.75%

The rates shown in the 2015 column were effective as of December 31, 2015. The rates were applied in 
determining the benefit plan balances at December 31, 2015. The rates shown in the 2014 column were effective at 
December 31, 2014 and were applied in determining the 2015 benefit plan expense.

The actuarial present value of the defined benefit obligation is sensitive to changes in actuarial assumptions, the most 
significant assumption being the discount rate. The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the defined benefit 
obligations to a one per cent change in the discount rate:

2015 2014

+1.0% -1.0% +1.0% -1.0%
Pension plan $ (37,765) $ 49,090 $ (39,196) $ 52,186 
Sick leave plan (875) 1,012 (953) 2,060 

The WCB’s defined benefit plan expenses are as follows:

Pension Plan Sick Leave Plan

2015 2014 2015 2014

Current service cost $ 9,643 $ 6,027 $ 526 $ 462 
Net interest expense 2,709 1,550 450 487 
Remeasurements (12,667) 33,814 (552) 829 

Total benefit plan expenses $ (315) $ 41,391 $ 424 $ 1,778

As at December 31, the funding status of the defined benefit plans is as follows:

Pension Plan Sick Leave Plan

2015 2014 2015 2014

Fair value of plan assets $ 172,692 $ 163,454 $ - $ -
Defined benefit obligation (239,258) (235,096) (11,588) (11,331)

Net defined benefit liability $ (66,566) $ (71,642) $ (11,588) $ (11,331)
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Details of the WCB’s net defined benefit liability are as follows:

Pension Plan Sick Leave Plan

2015 2014 2015 2014

Balance at January 1 $ (71,642) $ (34,355) $ (11,331) $ (9,910)

Benefit cost recognized in income (12,352) (7,577) (976) (949)
Remeasurements recognized in other

comprehensive income (loss) 12,667 (33,814) 552 (829)
Employer contributions 4,761 4,104 167 357 

Net change in net defined 
benefit liability 5,076 (37,287) (257) (1,421)

Net defined benefit liability at 
December 31 $ (66,566) $ (71,642) $ (11,588) $ (11,331)

Details of the WCB’s defined benefit obligations are as follows:

Pension Plan Sick Leave Plan

2015 2014 2015 2014

Balance at January 1 $ (235,096) $ (181,557) $ (11,331) $ (9,910)

Current service cost (12,683) (8,627) (526) (462)
Interest expense (9,394) (8,994) (450) (487)
Transfers to the plan (3,267) (122) - -
Remeasurements consisting of:

Actuarial gains (losses) 17,442 (39,253) 552 (829)
Benefits paid 3,740 3,457 167 357 
Net change in defined 

benefit obligation (4,162) (53,539) (257) (1,421)

Defined benefit obligation at 
December 31 $ (239,258) $ (235,096) $ (11,588) $ (11,331)
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Details of the WCB’s defined benefit plan assets are as follows:

Pension Plan

2015 2014

Balance at January 1 $ 163,454 $ 147,202

Interest income 6,685 7,444 
Employer contributions 4,761 4,104 
Employee contributions 3,040 2,600 
Transfers to the plan 3,267 122 
Remeasurements consisting of:

Actuarial (loss) gain (4,775) 5,439 
Benefits paid (3,740) (3,457)
Net change in plan assets 9,238 16,252 

Plan assets at December 31 $ 172,692 $ 163,454

The fair value of the pension plan assets as at December 31 is:

Pension Plan

2015 2014

Equity
Canadian $ 54,208 $ 51,167 
Foreign (including U.S.) 54,381 44,648 

108,589 95,815 
Fixed income 61,693 59,261 
Cash and short term 2,410 8,378 

$ 172,692 $ 163,454

The Plan assets are wholly invested in pooled funds. Therefore, at December 31, 2015 and 2014 the Plan held financial 
instruments valued using inputs that are observable for the asset either directly or indirectly (Level 2).
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WCB Retiree Healthcare Spending Account (RHCSA) 
Details of the WCB RHCSA are as follows:

2015 2014

Balance at January 1 $ (1,853) $ (736)

Benefit cost recognized in income (168) (953)

Remeasurements recognized in other 
comprehensive income (loss) 88 (164)

Employer contributions 3 -

Net change in net defined 
benefit liability (77) (1,117)

Defined benefit liability at 
December 31 $ (1,930) $ (1,853)

Related Party Transactions - Pension Plan 
By definition, the WCB pension plan is a related party to the WCB. Transactions between the related parties are 
detailed below:

2015 2014

Transactions:
Contributions from employees $ 3,040 $ 2,600
Contributions from employer 4,761 4,104

There were no amounts outstanding as at December 31, 2015 or December 31, 2014. 

13. BENEFIT LIABILITIES FOR ALL EMPLOYERS
Benefit liabilities are determined in accordance with standards established by the Actuarial Standards Board 
(Canada). The actuarial present value of future benefit payments reflects management’s long term estimates of 
economic and actuarial assumptions and methods, which are based upon past experience and modified for current 
trends. As these assumptions may change over time to reflect underlying conditions, it is possible that such changes 
could cause a material change in the actuarial present value of the future payments. The fair value for benefit 
liabilities is not readily determinable.
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The key actuarial assumptions used to value the benefit liabilities as at December 31 are as follows:

2015 2014

Discount rate 5.75% 6.0%
Inflation for CPI-indexed benefits 2.25% 3.0%
Inflation for wage-related benefits 3.25% 4.0%
Inflation for healthcare benefits 5.25% 6.5%

An analysis of the components of and changes in benefit liabilities is as follows:

2015 2014

Short Term 
Disability

Long Term 
Disability

Survivor 
Benefits

Healthcare 
Benefits

Rehabilitation 
Services Total Total

Balance at 
beginning of year $ 164,438 $ 478,351 $ 139,401 $ 289,888 $ 8,604 $ 1,080,682 $ 1,036,965

Add: Claim costs 
incurred

Current year 52,125 51,425 3,897 51,985 1,290 160,722 183,612 
Prior years (16,797) 59,741 3,114 8,501 (3,731) 50,828 38,488 

35,328 111,166 7,011 60,486 (2,441) 211,550 222,100

Less: Claim 
payments made

Current year 27,417 706 180 20,240 1 48,544 48,408 
Prior years 26,052 51,919 13,034 31,969 189 123,163 129,975 

53,469 52,625 13,214 52,209 190 171,707 178,383

Balance at 
end of year $ 146,297 $ 536,892 $ 133,198 $ 298,165 $ 5,973 $ 1,120,525 $ 1,080,682

The liability for short term disability claims is an estimate of future wage loss payments for claims that have yet to 
medically plateau or stabilize. The long term disability liability includes estimated future wage loss payments for 
those claims that have medically plateaued and stabilized, estimated future pension payments, and estimated future 
cost of claims relating to certain long latent occupational diseases. The liability for survivor benefits is composed 
of estimated future pension payments and other services provided to survivors of those who have lost their lives as 
a result of workplace injuries or illnesses. Healthcare liabilities are the estimated future medical costs for existing 
claims. The liability for rehabilitation services is composed of the estimated cost of future rehabilitation services 
which are externally supplied to the WCB.
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Included in the benefit liabilities balance is $103.7 million ($55.1 million in 2014) for the estimated long latent 
occupational disease liability. The Workers Compensation Act of Manitoba lists specific illnesses and injuries presumed to 
be caused by firefighting, unless the contrary is proven. Effective January 1, 2016, the Act was amended to include a 
presumption for Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder, regardless of occupation.

Also included in the benefit liability is $93.7 million ($90.9 million in 2014) for the future cost of administering 
existing claims.

Sensitivity of Actuarial Assumptions 
The most significant assumption in the determination of the benefit liabilities is the discount rate.

The following table shows the sensitivity of the benefit liabilities to an immediate one per cent increase or decrease in 
the key assumptions used to determine the liabilities:

Change in liability in millions

2015 2014

+/- % change on assumed rates +1% -1% +1% -1%
Discount rate $ (87) $ 103 $ (78) $ 92
Wage inflation rate 54 (47) 41 (36)
General inflation rate 10 (9) 14 (12)
Healthcare inflation rate 35 (28) 35 (28)

An increase in the discount rate results in a decrease to the benefit liabilities and vice versa.

An increase to any of the inflation rates results in an increase to the benefit liabilities. Each inflation rate affects 
only those benefits that are directly impacted by that type of inflation. For example, healthcare inflation only affects 
healthcare liabilities.

Liability Adequacy Test 
IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts requires an insurer to apply a liability adequacy test that meets specified minimum 
requirements, as follows:

a. the test considers current estimates of all contractual cash flows, and of related cash flows such as claims 
handling costs, as well as cash flows resulting from embedded options and guarantees; and

b. if the test shows that the liability is inadequate, the entire deficiency is recognised in profit or loss.

If these minimum requirements are met, there are no further requirements.

The current claim benefit liability valuation meets the liability adequacy testing requirements of IFRS 4. Accordingly, 
a separate annual liability adequacy test is not required.
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Claims Development 
The table below compares actual claim liabilities to previous estimates back to the earliest period for which there is 
material uncertainty about the estimate and timing of claim payments.

Injury Year

Estimate of 
ultimate claims

2006 & 
Prior 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

End of injury year $ 1,458,654 182,168 203,916 184,494 181,728 196,690 202,359 211,487 219,081 195,485

1 year later 1,516,628 191,645 187,514 165,260 171,672 182,934 204,976 203,221 187,526 -

2 years later 1,531,656 189,544 175,901 172,820 170,445 193,678 200,459 180,672 - -

3 years later 1,540,794 187,199 185,187 173,058 183,276 190,184 184,729 - - -

4 years later 1,591,397 190,159 184,284 184,782 181,488 175,290 - - - -

5 years later 1,672,185 190,595 199,761 183,809 169,155 - - - - -

6 years later 1,692,401 198,086 198,546 173,308 - - - - - -

7 years later 1,786,175 197,405 188,664 - - - - - - -

8 years later 1,848,853 189,258 - - - - - - - -

9 years later 1,754,856 - - - - - - - - -

Injury Year

Cumulative 
claims paid

2006 & 
Prior 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

End of injury year $ 158,624 46,859 50,599 48,096 46,249 47,401 47,263 47,333 47,500 46,895

1 year later 285,510 82,221 84,294 77,860 74,123 76,708 78,400 74,773 72,567 -

2 years later 383,157 96,974 96,378 87,285 84,207 86,321 88,071 83,002 - -

3 years later 467,653 106,870 104,554 94,078 90,830 92,230 95,167 - - -

4 years later 547,097 113,748 110,788 99,426 95,642 96,519 - - - -

5 years later 620,003 119,384 115,963 103,890 99,645 - - - - -

6 years later 688,743 123,961 120,129 107,590 - - - - - -

7 years later 752,415 127,565 123,619 - - - - - - -

8 years later 811,184 130,844 - - - - - - - -

9 years later 866,090 - - - - - - - - -

Injury Year

2006 & 
Prior 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 Total

Cumulative 
estimate of 
ultimate claims $ 1,754,856 189,258 188,664 173,308 169,155 175,290 184,729 180,672 187,526 195,485 $ 3,398,943

Less: Cumulative 
claims paid 866,090 130,844 123,619 107,590 99,645 96,519 95,167 83,002 72,567 46,895 1,721,937

Current year 
unpaid and 
unreported claims 888,766 58,414 65,046 65,718 69,510 78,772 89,561 97,670 114,959 148,590 1,677,006

Effect of 
discounting (753,845)

Administration 
cost within benefit 
liabilities 93,699

Future dated long 
latency liability 103,665

Total benefit 
liabilities $ 1,120,525
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14. BENEFIT LIABILITIES FOR SELF INSURED EMPLOYERS
Note 13 contains a complete description of the components of the benefit liabilities for all employers. An analysis of 
the portion relating to self insured employers is as follows:

2015 2014

Short Term 
Disability

Long Term 
Disability

Survivor 
Benefits

Healthcare 
Benefits

Rehabilitation 
Services Total Total

Balance at 
beginning of year $ 15,249 $ 55,108 $ 24,060 $ 44,594 $ 620 $ 139,631 $ 132,494

Add: Claim 
costs incurred

Current year 5,620 6,312 553 6,772 49 19,306 21,578 
Prior years 2,591 19,780 165 9,293 (337) 31,492 8,843 

8,211 26,092 718 16,065 (288) 50,798 30,421

Less: Claim 
payments made

Current year 3,825 197 12 2,481 - 6,515 6,388 
Prior years 3,672 4,276 2,502 5,309 (28) 15,731 16,896 

7,497 4,473 2,514 7,790 (28) 22,246 23,284

Balance at 
end of year $ 15,963 $ 76,727 $ 22,264 $ 52,869 $ 360 $ 168,183 $ 139,631

Included in premiums and claim costs for self insured employers are payments in the amount of $3.8 million 
($3.5 million in 2014) made by self insured employers directly to injured workers on the WCB’s behalf. These 
amounts are reported to the WCB for inclusion in these financial statements.

Included in the benefit liabilities balance is $42.2 million ($20.4 million in 2014) for self insured employers’ share 
of the long latent occupational disease liability and $12.7 million ($10.0 million in 2014) for the future cost of 
administering existing claims.
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15. PREMIUM REVENUE

2015 2014

Premiums - Class E employers $ 230,059 $ 253,733 
Assessments - Self insured employers 26,310 25,213 
Increase in deferred assessments (Note 7) 29,031 7,454 

Total premium revenue $ 285,400 $ 286,400

16. OPERATING EXPENSES

2015 2014

Salaries, employee benefits and training $ 62,380 $ 54,689 
Information technology service fees 1,579 1,600 
Occupancy costs 3,090 2,792 
Office supplies, services and projects 1,784 1,533 
Communications 1,395 1,369 
Professional fees 3,268 3,158 
Donations 108 102 
Amortization of capital assets 2,857 2,546 

76,461 67,789

Appeal Commission 1,347 1,307 
Research and Workplace Innovation Program grants 903 974 
Recoveries from the Government of Canada (1,834) (1,651)
SAFE Work Manitoba 4,846 3,938
Province of Manitoba Workplace Safety

and Health Department funding (Note 17) 8,889 8,966 

Total operating expenses $ 90,612 $ 81,323

Of the total operating expenses, $7.1 million ($6.3 million in 2014) was allocated to self insured employers based on 
the current year’s transaction volumes.

The WCB administers the Government Employees Compensation Act program for the Government of Canada. The 

operation of this program is reflected only to the extent of the recoveries of operating expenses.
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17. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
The WCB is a statutory corporation created by the Manitoba Legislature. The WCB is a government agency of the 
Province of Manitoba that operates at arm’s-length from government. As an agency of the Province of Manitoba, the 
WCB applies the exemption for government-related entities in IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures.

Pursuant to The Workplace Safety and Health Act of Manitoba, the Province may pay the expenses incurred in the 
administration of that Act out of the consolidated fund and may, subsequently, recover such portion as it may 
determine from the WCB under The Workers Compensation Act of Manitoba. For 2015, the amount charged to operations 
under this provision was $8.4 million ($9.1 million in 2014).

Also, under Section 84.(1) of The Workers Compensation Act of Manitoba, the Province may pay the costs incurred in 
respect of worker advisors and may recover them from the WCB. For 2015, the amount charged to operations under 
this provision was $0.7 million ($0.8 million in 2014).

In addition to the legislated obligations referred to above, included in these financial statements are amounts 
resulting from routine operating transactions conducted at prevailing market prices with various provincial 
government controlled ministries, agencies and Crown corporations with which the WCB may be considered related. 
This includes the provision of assistance, in the form of medical opinions and appeal services, for the Province of 
Manitoba relating to criminal injury claims. The provincial government is also a self insured employer under The 
Workers Compensation Act of Manitoba. Accordingly, the Province of Manitoba was allocated $2.5 million ($2.4 million 
in 2014) of the total operating expenses (Note 16) based on their transaction volume. Balances resulting from 
transactions with the Province of Manitoba are included in these financial statements and are settled on normal 
trade terms.

Included in the WCB’s investment portfolio as at December 31, 2015 are guaranteed debentures issued by the 
Province of Manitoba in the amount of $4.0 million ($3.5 million in 2014).

Other Related Party Disclosures 
In addition to the related government entities above, the key management personnel of the WCB (comprised of the 
WCB executive personnel and the Board of Directors) are deemed related parties. By definition, close family members 
of the key management personnel are also related parties of the WCB. Any transactions or business relationships are 
incidental, and carried out at normal trade terms.

The WCB has a pension plan for the benefit of WCB employees, which is a related party by definition of IAS 24 Related 
Party Disclosure. Detailed information on transactions with the pension plan can be found in Note 12.
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Key Management Compensation 
The following table shows total compensation for the executive personnel of the WCB:

2015 2014

Short term employee benefits $ 1,625 $ 1,498 
Post-employment benefits 383 322 

 
$ 2,008 $ 1,820

Short term employee benefits include salary, vacation, car allowances, group health and dental benefits, group life 
insurance, and the employer’s share of contributions to the Canada Pension Plan and employment insurance. 
Post-employment benefits include the estimated current service cost accrued for pension and other post-employment 
benefits.

The following table shows the total compensation for the Board of Directors of the WCB:

2015 2014

Fees $ 165 $ 160 
Benefits 2 2 

$ 167 $ 162

The Board of Directors is comprised of 10 members appointed by the Government of Manitoba. Members’ 
remuneration is set out in Order in Council passed by Lieutenant Governor in Council.

18. COMMITMENTS
The WCB has signed operating leases for office premises and office equipment expiring at various times until 
October 30, 2025. The minimum lease obligations over the next five years are:

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 Thereafter Total
$ 1,695 $ 1,672 $ 1,624 $ 1,291 $ 1,147 $ 4,896 $ 12,325
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19. CONTINGENCIES
The WCB is party to various claims and lawsuits related to the normal course of business that are currently being 
contested. In the opinion of management, the outcome of such claims and lawsuits are not determinable. However, 
based on the total amount of all such actions, the WCB has concluded that their outcomes, either individually or in 
aggregate, will not have a material effect on the results of operations or financial position.

20. AUDITOR INDEPENDENCE
Grant Thornton LLP did not provide non-audit services to the WCB in 2015 or 2014.

21. COMPARATIVE FIGURES
Certain comparative figures and disclosures have been reclassified to conform to the financial statement presentation 
adopted in the current year.
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